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INTHE UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
DISTRICT OF KANSAS

Miriam Martin,
Plaintiff,
V. Case No. 11-CV-2179

Olathe Health System, Inc.
and Olathe Medical Center, Inc.,

Defendants.

MEMORANDUM & ORDER

This lawsuit stems from thiermination of plaintiff Miram Martin’'s employment as|a
communications operator at defendant Olatiledical Center. Plaintiff contends that
defendants terminated her employment basechem national origin and in retaliation for
plaintiff’s engaging in protectedctivity—both in violation of Ttle VII of the Civil Rights Act
of 1964, 42 U.S.C. 8§ 2000e s¢q. This matter is presenthefore the court on defendants’

motion for summary judgmeiitioc.43). As explained below, the motion is grarited.

Facts

Defendant Olathe Health System is a Kansatsfor-profit corporation whose mission|is
to provide modern medicine and compassionaee to everyone withints service area.

Defendant Olathe Medical Cent@lOMC”) is a Kansas not-for-profit corporation within the

' In the pretrial order, plaintiff also assedsstate law claim for wrongful discharge and
defendants move for summarydgment on this claim. In hesummary judgment submissions,
plaintiff has expressly withdrawnithclaim. Defendants’ motion dhis claim, then, is granted.
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Olathe Health Systef. Plaintiff Miriam Martin was borrin Mexico and came to the Unit¢

States in 1989 when shwas 18 years old. Prior to thamne, plaintiff did not speak or

understand English. After coming tiee United States, plaintifbok classes to learn English
a second language.
In December 2009, plaiff completed and submitted a general application

employment with OMC to apply foopen positions which werested on OMC’s website. |

January 2012, plaintiff receidean interview for the Commurations Operator position. |A
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Communications Operator is pramly responsible for utilizing the overhead paging system in

the hospital to communicate information to phisis, staff, patients and visitors, includ

paging doctors and other personaslrequested and paging “Cdleie” alerts, fire alerts an

ng
d

emergency calls. A Communications Operatoraliso responsible for operating a console

telephone switchboard to relaycoming, outgoing and inter-offigghone calls. It is undisputed

that it is essential for a Communications Oper&totlearly and quickl enunciate information

so that the individuals with whom the Ogtar was communicating could take immed

action. It is further undisputed that effective oral communication skills, including the ab

ate

lity to

be understood by others, was an essential oot of the Communications Operator position.

OMC’s CommunicationsSupervisr, Sherri Smith, intervieweplaintiff for the position

Ms. Smith had concerns about plaintiff's poociation and, more specifically, about peaq

ple

understanding plaintiff due ther pronunciation and grammamionetheless, Ms. Smith was

% In their motion for summary judgment, deflants contend that summary judgmer]
appropriate in favor of Olathe Health Systeng. I(fOHS”) on all claims because plaintiff h

tis
as

not come forward withevidence sufficient tcestablish that OHS is plaintiff's employer.
Because the court concludes that summary judgment in favmtlofdefendants is appropriate

for other reasons, the court tiees to address this argument.
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impressed with plaintiff and hired her (with thgreement of a humanserces representative,
who separately interviewed pteiff) to work as a part-tim€ommunications Operator for a 90-
day probationary term. Pldifi began her employment witbMC on March 1, 2010 and she

reportedly directly to Ms. Smitlduring her employment. Sherri Smith, in turn, reported to

—h

Dennis Jackson, the Commurticas Manager, who ported to Peggy &hovan, OMC'’s Chie

Information Officer. Plaintiff's employment was terminated prior to thet @rher probationar

<

term.
During the course of plaintiff's relatively brief employment, Sherri Smith provided
ongoing training and feedback to plaintiffgeeding her enunciation. Ms. Smith also

h

—+

recommended to plaintiff that she visit certainbsiées that she felt would help plaintiff w
her oral communication skills. These websitesluded practice exemes for individuals
learning English as a second langea It is uncontroverted thatgohtiff, with the assistance of
Ms. Smith, worked diligetty to improve her oral communicaticskills during the course of her

employment. Nonetheless, MSmith testified that during plaiiff's employment “more than

—

ten” individuals relayed to herdhthey could not understand plaiitd pages due to her accen

In mid-April 2010, Ms. Donovan received a@amail from an employee advising Ms.
Donovan that several staff members had been l@nnpg in recent weeks that they could not
understand the overhead page&loé Spanish person hired iretloperator/switchboard” in light

of the operator’s “thick accent” and slow spe&chMs. Donovan contacted Sherri Smith vig e-

® Plaintiff objects to evidencef the e-mail complaint reaeed by Ms. Dmovan on the
grounds that defendants failed to establisméfation for the e-mail and it is unknown who sent
the e-mail and whether that persaas referring to plaintiff. Té objection is overruled. The
evidence relating to the initiad-mail received by Ms. Donovas considered only for the
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mail for her thoughts on the issue. Ms. Smidgsponded that she “knew when she h
[plaintiff] that the accent angronunciation would be a hurditeat we would need to wo

through,” but that she believedathplaintiff would be an asset to the team with contin

progress and practice. Ms. Smith advised Msiadvan that that she tidbeen working closely

k

ired

ued

with plaintiff on her communication and had segted to plaintiff that she slow down her

speech to see if it would help her communicatidis. Smith wrote in her e-mail that plaint
took the suggestion too literally and that she waadvise plaintiff to nd an appropriate spe
and volume when pagingverhead. Finally, Ms. Smith m&oned the websites to which s
had directed plaintiff and her belief that plainwas working very hardo improve her ora
communication skills. Ms. Donowaresponded in turn thafls. Smith was “appropriate
addressing” the concern and that she hopedMisatSmith’s “tools and learning aids will he
support her.” Ms. Donovan comcled her e-mail by stating that*gounds like [plaintiff] will
be an asset to the organization if @& help her improve her pronunciation.”

On May 7, 2010, one of the &th labs” in the hospital notifiethe operator’s station of|

“Code Blue” emergency. A Code Blue means thaatient’s life is in danger. It is undisput

that “every second counts” when physicians hodpital staff are responding to a Code E
situation. According to Lucte Craig, the hospital’s Chief laging Officer responsible for tf
implementation of all Hospital fioies and procedures, the passuig few seconds “can be t
difference between a good outcomrad a bad outcome.” Plairitiieceived the alert and calls

the Code Blue page over the paging system. uhdisputed that she called the page incorre

purpose of showing what pronagt Ms. Donovan to contact SheSmith. Theidentity of the
author of the e-mail and the acotyeaof the e-mail is not relem& The only relevance is M
Donovan’s assertion that she received the e-mail and acted on it.
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by calling the entire Code Blue response team rdttar the smaller teaspecific to a cath lab
Code Blue. In addition to calling the page imectly, defendants contend that plaintiff called
the Code Blue so slowly that members of trspomse team were standing under the speaker and
waiting for the completion ahe announcement.
After the Code Blue page, M€raig wrote an e-mail tdMs. Donovan expressing her
concern about the page. After briefly mentiotieat the page itself wasalled incorrectly, Ms|.
Craig wrote:
Worsening the situation waagain, it was called by the person | had concerns
about earlier in an email. The person &dbkick Spanish accent and called it very
slowly. | was in the cath lab in the codied Joey Barton commented as all as the
physicians while rolling eyes and all . this is totally unacceptable. Time is
muscle and for every second that is wdsby 1) not following our code blue

calling policy and 2) language tioeers, we are costing lives.

Please understand this was clearly a problérbelieve this is unacceptable and
will continue to be a concern of my emetileam, the cardiologfis and clearly Joey.

Alan will be following up with the superws to again assure policy is clear and
followed. However, the language issue | ensing yet again to your level as we
have a problem that it [is] not gettingttee and | fear we are setting not only the
person in the position up for failure but thespital and patient care process up for
failure or minimally delays.
Ms. Craig testified that she thavoiced her concerns about tblarity of the pages from the
operator with the “thick accent” to either She®mith or Dennis Jacks. According to Ms.
Craig, she expressed “significamioncerns about the accent dftiple times” prior to May 7|,
2010. She testified that sleok her concern to Ms. Donavaon May 7, 2010 because the

situation “was escalating” and heoncerns were now related patient safety in light of the

page that occurred during an emergency event.




Ms. Donovan, too, was concerned about thdeCBlue called by platiff. According to
Ms. Donovan, plaintiff utilized a “very protracted pronunciation of the words and location”
with pauses between each wordVs. Donovan testified thashe was concerned that the
pronunciation of the CodBlue “resulted in confusion angbtential delay in our caregivers’
response to a critical patient life-saving everlhen Ms. Donovan received Ms. Craig's May
7, 2010 e-mail, she visited with Sherri Smiibh evaluate plainfii's employment and her
performance, including the pri@moaching that plaintiff hadeceived during her employment.
She also visited with human resources @engl about the “potential repercussions”| of
terminating plaintiff, who “has aethnic background that . does not allow her to enunciate
clearly so that . . . clinicians and physiciame able to understand her communication.” After
considering the training and feedback thaaimiff had already received, as well as fthe
circumstances surrounding the Code Blue,. @®novan made the decision to terminate
plaintiff's employment.

On May 20, 2010, Ms. Donovan issued ptdf a termination memorandum in which
Ms. Donovan noted that, despite plaintiff's imprments with her dictiomnd clarity of speech,
“we are still in receipt of complaints and continoenote that direction prided over the public
address system can be uncleadifficult to understand; this occsiespecially during high stress
times, for example, when emergency codedaneg announced.” M®onovan summarized |n
the memorandum that “the ability to enunciateasdo be reasonablinderstood by staff and
the public, is necessary to perfo your duties” and the Hospitaad determined that plaintiff

was not able to “consistentigeet this essential function.”




Additional facts will be provided as they ridao the specific guments raised by the

parties in their submissiofis.

. Summary Judgment Standard

Summary judgment is appropriate “if the mowvahows that there is no genuine disf
as to any material fact and the movant is eutittejudgment as a matter of law.” Fed. R. (
P. 56(a). In applying this standard, the caueivs the evidence and kes inferences in th
light most favorable to the non-movarierber v. Qwest Group Life Ins. Pla647 F.3d 950
959 (10th Cir. 2011). A dispute genuine if “the evidence is such that a reasonable jury f
return a verdict for the norowing party” on the issueld. (quotingAnderson v. Liberty Lobb
Inc., 477 U.S. 242, 248 (1986)). Although theud views the evidence and draws reason
inferences therefrom in the lightost favorable to the nonmag party, the “nonmoving par
must present more than a scintilla of evidence in favor of his positilth.(quotingFord v.

Pryor, 552 F.3d 1174, 11778 (10th Cir. 2008)).

[I1.  Discrimination Claim
Plaintiff contends that defendants termathher employment on the basis of her nati

origin in violation of Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 196442 U.S.C. 8§ 2000e et seq.

* Certain facts set forth by defendants hawvebearing whatsoeven the issues befo
the court and the court has disregarded thosts fantirely. Defendants, for example, h
included as “facts” statementsrmerning plaintiff's alleged iligal entry to the United Stat
and her alleged failure to payé&s during the time period whehe lived her umwfully. These
statements are unhelpful, irrelevant and the court disregards them. Defendants h
included numerous facts concerning plaintifiileged resume fraud but defendants advanc
argument concerning that issu€hese facts, too, have bedisregarded by the court.
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plaintiff has no direct evidence of discrimirati her claims are analyzed using the burden-

shifting framework set forth iMicDonnell-Douglas Corp. v. Greed11 U.S. 792 (1973)See
Khalik v. United Air Lines671 F.3d 1188, 1192 (10th Cir. 2012). UnNeDonnell Douglas
plaintiff has the initial burdewnf establishing a prima facie case of discriminatida. (citing

Garrett v. Hewlett-Packard Cp305 F.3d 1210, 1216 (10th C#002)). To set forth a prim

facie case of discrimination, plaintiff must edisio that she is a membef a protected class;

that she suffered an adverse employment actiat;she was qualified for the position at iss

and that she was termiedt under circumstances giving riseao inference of discrimination.

Id.; Strickland v. United Parcel Serv., In&d55 F.3d 1224, 1231 @th Cir. 2009). If she

establishes a prima facie case, the burden dhiftefendants to artitate a legitimate, nor

discriminatory reason for the adverse employment actikhalik, 671 F.3d at 1192 (citing

Garrett, 305 F.3d at 1216). If defendants meet thisden, summary judgment against plain
is warranted unless she shows that her protestatlis was a determinative factor in
employment decision or that defemds’ reasons are pretextuddl.

In their motion for summary judgment, deéants first contend that plaintiff canr
establish a prima facie case of discnation because she was not qualified for
communications operator positio\s evidence of plaintiff's lek of qualificaions, defendant
rely on their asserted reasofts plaintiff's discharge, incluihg her alleged inability to b
understood by others, her gk inability to clearly enunciatinformation and her allege
inability to announce Codelues and Code Reds effectivelpefendants, then, urge the cour
consider their proffered nondiscriminatory reas for terminating platiffs employment in

connection with analyzing plaifits prima facie case. Statexhother way, defendants sugg
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that plaintiff must disprove defieants’ proffered reasons for ttegmination decision in order to
establish her prima facie case. This argument constitutes an impermissible “end run” arpund
McDonnell Douglasanalysis and the court cannot consider it at the prima facie sS&ge.e.g|,

EEOC v. Horizon/CMS Healthcare Cor220 F.3d 1184, 1192-940th Cir. 2000) (requirin

[ ]

plaintiff to disprove defendaist proffered reason for employmniedecision to establish prima
facie case would inappropriately short circiilcDonnell Douglasanalysis and frustrate
plaintiff's ability to establish pretext).

Because defendants do not othise challenge plaintiff'orima facie case, the court
turns to analyze whether defendants havet mheir burden to articulate a legitimate,
nondiscriminatory reason for the termination deeisi “This burden is one of production, not
persuasion; it can involve no credibility assessmefdrter v. PathfindelEnergy Servs., Ing

662 F.3d 1134, 1149.0th Cir. 2011) (quotingreeves v. Sanderson Plumbing Prods.., 580

U.S. 133, 142 (2000)). The T@nCircuit has characterized thsirden as “exceedingly light,

and the court finds that defeamts have carried it hereSee id Defendants assert that they

terminated plaintiffs employménbecause she could not conamie fulfill an essential job

requirement—the ability to communicate orally effeely and efficiently s@s to be reasonahly
understood by Hospital physiciarsgaff and the public. The bunmd®f proof, then, shifts bagk
to plaintiff to show that defendasitproffered reasons are pretextual.

Before turning to plaintiff's pretext evidencene court addressesfdedants’ contention
that they are entitled to an iménce that no diseriinatory animus motated the termination

decision in this case because the “same adtwed and fired plaintiff within a three-month

period. The “same actor inferegids based on the notion thatmakes little saese to deduce”

9




that an individual who hires a person—fully aeasf that person’s national origin or otk
protected characteristic—would then fire thpérson a short time later based on
characteristic. See Antonio v. Sygma Network,.Jrid58 F.3d 1177, 1183 (10th Cir. 2006).
Antoniqg the Tenth Circuit recognized that “in casdsere the employee was hired and fired
the same person within a relatively short tis@an, there is a stronigference that th
employer's stated reason for acting aghithe employee is not pretextuald. (internal
guotations omitted). The court dmes to apply the inference this case. According f{
defendants, Ms. Donovan made the decisiontetminate plaintiff's employment and h
approved her hiring less than three monthdiega But while tke evidence set forth |
defendants demonstrates that. d®novan may have placed &éom stamp of approval on t
hiring decision, there is no evidence that Ms. Donovan had lkdge of plaintiff's protecte
status when she approved thdatision—a decision essentially mdune Sherri Smith. There
no evidence, for example, that Ms. Donovanriitaved plaintiff or otherwise had access
information that would have piMs. Donovan on notice of pldiff's national origin. In the
absence of such evidence, defendants have not shown tharéhewntitied to the same ac
inference.

The court turns, then, to phiff's pretext evidence. Ev&hce of pretext “may take

variety of forms,” including evidence tendingdbow “that the defendant’s stated reason for

adverse employment action was false” and ewdddending to show “that the defendant ac
contrary to a written company lpry prescribing the action to daken by the defendant ung
the circumstances.Carter v. Pathfinder Energy Servs., In662 F.3d 11341150 (10th Cir

2011) (quotingKendrick v. Pensk&ransp. Servs., Inc220 F.3d 1220, 123@0th Cir. 2000))
10

ner

that

by

o

ad

)y

S

to

tor

a
the
cted

ler




A plaintiff may also show pretéxvith evidence that the defendant had “shifted rationale
that it had treated similarly situated employees differetipwe v. ADT Servs., Inc649 F.3d
1189, 1197 (10th Cir. 2011). In essence, antiff shows pretext by presenting evidence
“such weaknesses, implausibilities, inconsistes)ci@coherencies, or contradictions in

employer's proffered legitimateeasons for its action thada reasonable factfinder cou

rationally find them unworthy ofredence and hence infer thia¢ employer didhot act for the

asserted non-discriminatory reasond¢Donald—Cuba v. Santa Herotective Servs., Inc644
F.3d 1096, 1102 (10th Cir. 2011).

According to plaintiff, the ndisputed evidence that skeas terminated based on |
accent necessarily gives rise to an infereneg $he was terminated because of her nat
origin as her accent and her natibnggin are “inextricably intewined.” But even plaintif

acknowledges, as she must, taatemployer may consider an employee’s foreign accent

context of a termination decisiohthe accent interferes witthe employee’s ability to perform

his or her job.See Baltazar v. ShinseR012 WL 2369332at *4 (10th Cir. June 25, 2012).

Baltazar, the Tenth Circuit affirmed the districtourt’s grant of summm judgment to am

employer on the plaintiff's natioharigin discrimination claim irpart because the plaintiff d

not show that any comments made about hemaagere made in a derogatory manner and

not challenge the employer's assertion tha plaintiff's position rquired the ability to

5" or

» of

the
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effectively communicate with patients and staffl. In so holding, the Circuit reiterated that

“unlawful discrimination does not occur . . . &ha plaintiff's accent affects his ability

perform the job effectively.”ld. (QquotingAng v. Proctor & Gamble Cp932 F.2d 80, 549 (6th

Cir. 1991) and citingCarino v. Univ. of Okla. Bd. of Regen#b0 F.2d 815 (10th Cir. 1984)
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(implying an employer may consider an emge\s foreign accent if it interferes with t
employee’s ability tgperform her job)).

Plaintiff asserts that genuinesues of fact exist as tahether the ability to spez
effectively in English is esséial to the Communications Opor position because the |
description itself does not require that the operspp@ak English as his or her first language
does not identify the essential furmets of the position. Such eeidce is irrelevant in light ¢

plaintiff's concessions that, in fact, effectiveal communication skills, including the ability

be understood by others, wasemsential component of the Comnications Operator position.

Because plaintiff does not disputhat her position required tladility to clearly and quickly

enunciate information, this case is distingaisle from the case relied upon by plaintifi

Tungol v. Certainteed Corp202 F. Supp. 2d 1189,02 (D. Kan. 2002). Ifungol there was

no evidence in the recotflat the plaintiff's foreign accemterfered with the plaintiff's ability
to perform his job. Here, thevidence is undisputed that plaff's position required effectiv
oral communications skills and that those skillsre reasonably related the performance ¢
the operator position. For the¢dason, and because therendsevidence thainyone mocke
plaintiff because of her accent or otherwise msi@dd¢ements about her accent in a deroga
fashion, defendant’s liance on plaintiff's accent for thertaination decisions not actionabls
under Title VII. See Baltazar2012 WL 2369332, at *4.

Plaintiff next contends that a reasonable joould draw an inference of discriminati
from evidence that Marilyn Moam, a Caucasian employee with no accent, announced g
Blue that was not understandalbecause her voice was too low and Hospital staff hg

contact the Communications Department becahey did not undetand the page. M
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Morgan was not terminated asesult of the page. Plaintiffsomparison to MsMorgan falls

short of establishing pretext. There is no ewick in the recorthat defendants experienced

any other problems involvings. Morgan’s oral communicatn skills. In contrast, the
evidence demonstrates that @Gede Blue announced by pléaff was not the first time that

management had concerns abplaintiff's communication skilland her ability to perform her

job. Sherri Smith worked witplaintiff on her pronunciation durg nearly ever shift worked

by plaintiff and provided ongog feedback to plaintiff on h@ommunication issues. Ms. Cra

g

testified that she expressed concerns about plaintiff's abilitieshier @ennis Jackson or Sherri

Smith on several occasions prir the Code Blue. According Ms. Craig, the Code Blue

called by plaintiff demonstrated that the peyhk stemming from her oral communications were

“escalating” rather than impving and that the “languagearrier” had now affected the

physicians’ and staff's ability to respond to @mergency event. Plaintiff, then, has not sh
that her situation is comparableNts. Morgan’s situation for purpes of establishing pretext.
Finally, plaintiff highlights that her imnukate supervisor, Sherri Smith, and

coworkers believed that plaintiff's job perfornt@nwas strong in nearly all categories and

DWN

her

that

plaintiff was making terrific progress with respéather pronunciation and enunciation. But a

proper challenge of pretext considers the factheag appear to the person making the deci

to terminate plaintiff. See Kendrick v. Penske Transp. Servs., B0 F.3d 1220, 1231 (10th

Cir. 2000). Neither Sherri Smithor plaintiffs coworkers mde the decision to termingte

plaintiff. In fact, defendants concede thate8h Smith did not agree with the decision
terminate plaintiff. Ms. Smith testified that estdid not necessarily egg with the decisio

because she believed plaintiff was progresseny well, she was ovenming some difficulties
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with pronunciation and articuian, she was flexible and wilg to work any shift, and M
Smith believed she would be a gobemployee. Ms. Smith conceqddmwever, that she believ
the termination decision “boiledown to patient safetyand she was not glited to “make that

call.” As explained by Ms. Smith, “I’'m not a medi personnel so | relgn the medical staff t

UJ

9%
o

provide their opinion” and the medical personneadligwved that there was a risk there and that it

was enough of a risk to result in termination.” As sumpeariby Ms. Smith, “I thought

t

would be good to keeporking with her . . . [hut ultimately it does come down to patient safety

and that's their area, not mine, to determine whatrisks are.” In sth circumstances, the

perception of Ms. Smith and rer non-decisionmakers regargliplaintiff's performance |

UJ

simply not relevant in determining pretexPlaintiff points to no evidence undermining the

stated perceptions of Ms. Dovan concerning plaintiff's ability to perform the essential

components of the Commuaitions Operator position. In tladsence of suckvidence, or an

other pertinent pretext evidence, summaiggment in favor of defendants is warranted.

V. Retaliation Claim

Title VII makes it unlawful fo an employer to retaliatagainst an employee “because

[s]he has opposed any practice made an unlawful employment practice by this subchapte

Khalik v. United Air Lines671 F.3d 1188, 1192 (10th CilOZ2) (quoting 42 U.S.C. § 2000
3(a)). A plaintiff can establish retaliation eithgy directly showing tat retaliation played
motivating part in the employemt decision, or indirectlhyby relying on the three-pa
McDonnell Douglasramework. Id. at 1192-93 (citingwigg v. Hawker Beechcraft Car®b59

F.3d 987 (10th Cir. 2011)). To state a primadarase for retaliation unditle VII, a plaintiff
14




must show “(1) that [s]he engaged in eaed opposition to discrimination, (2) thalt
reasonable employee would haverid the challenged action matdgisadverse, and (3) that
causal connection existed between the proteatédity and the materially adverse actiorid.
at 1193 (quoting'wigg, 659 F.3d at 998) (alteration in original).

In their motion for summary judgment, defenttacontend that plaintiff cannot establj

ish

a prima facie case of retaliation because caoisal connection exists between plaintiff's

protected activity and the termination of hemployment. More specifically, defendants

contend that Peggy Donovathe primary decisionmaker withespect to the decision [to

terminate plaintiffs employmnt, undisputedly had no kntedge of any discrimination

complaints made by plaintiff.See Hinds v. Sprindhited Management Cp0523 F.3d 1187

1203 (10th Cir. 2008) (to satisfyausal connection element, pigif must first come forward

with evidence from which a reasdia factfinder could concludedhthose who decided to fire

him had knowledge of his protected activity).

According to plaintiff, in mid-April 2010Bonnie Smith, one of pintiff's co-workers

told plaintiff that “she didn’'t have a prolte with Mexicans as long as they work and pay

taxes.” During the same time franBnnnie Smith also told plairtithat “they come here not t

work” and “they take advantage tife United States, of Americai Plaintiff further testified

o

that Bonnie Smith spoke to her as if she cowdtdunderstand or speak English (that is, Bonnie

Smith spoke to plaintiff using slow, repetitive, deliite speech) and ofteridlaintiff that she

was difficult to understand. Plaintiff told &hmi Smith about Bonnie Smith’s comments and

15




conduct but it is uncontroverted that she did mention Bonnie Smith’'somments or condu
to anyone else.

Plaintiff contends that Sherri Smith’'sndwledge of her discrimation complaints i

[92)

sufficient because Peggy Donowvdiscussed with Sherri Smith whether plaintiff's employment

should be terminateduch that Sherri Smith should beemed a decisionmaker. The court

rejects this argument for two reasons. Fiste evidence does naupport plaintiff's

characterization that Ms. Donovdrscussed with Sherri Smith wther to terminate plaintiff’

employment. Ms. Donovadid not testify that she sougimput from Sherri Smith about the

termination decision. Rather, she testifiedttiadvised Sherri Smith about the termina

decision as “a statement of fact” and told ®h&mith when the termation would occurn.

Second, it is undisputed that Sherri Smith ditlagree with the termination decision and th
iIs no evidence that Sherri Smith any way encouraged Ms.oDovan to terminate plaintiff’
employment. In such circumstances, no reaslenpry could conclude that the decision
terminate plaintiff's employment was motivated any way by Sherri Smith’s knowledge

plaintiff's complaints.

® Plaintiff also suggests that she engagegrotected opposition tdiscrimination wher
she complained t8herri Smith that anotheoworker, Marilyn Morganinstructed plaintiff no
to use the restroom in the Communications Depamt office due to andwor that occurred whe
plaintiff used the restroom. There is no evicenhowever, that plaintiff suggested to Sh
Smith that this commentas based on plaintiff's tianal origin (and theres no other evidenc
suggesting that the comment migiiatve been based on plaintiffimtional origin) such that th
complaint could reasonably be construed as a mmpf discrimination. Nonetheless, evel
it is assumed that the mplaint constituted protected activityithin the meanig of Title VII,

[72)
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this activity cannot fornthe basis of a valid retaliation claipecause there is no suggestion that

anyone other than Sherri Smitad knowledge of the comment.
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Plaintiff also contends that a reasoeajlry could infer that Sherri Smith told M

Donovan about plaintiff's disanination complaints based onigence that Ms. Donovan he

S.

d

weekly meetings with Sher®mith about the Communications Department and evidence that

Ms. Donovan knew that plaifft was having “difficulties with her coworkers.” While Ms.

Donovan testified that she had a “standing mgétwith Dennis Jackson and Sherri Smith

Tuesday mornings which would typically last fr@&® minutes to one houlhere is no evidenge

that Sherri Smith ever raisdle issue of possible national angliscrimination or plaintiff's

complaints about national origdiscrimination at any of these etengs. Ms. Donovan testified

on

that the agenda for these weekigetings consisted of “any owstling issues and concerns that

they had [and] a general update as to theatjpers.” Any inference from this testimony that

Sherri Smith advised Ms. Donovan that plaintiff had complained about national

discrimination is both tenuous @rspeculative, particularly whahis undisputed that plaintiff
expressly asked Sherri Smith not to communicatebtmplaints to anyones# in management.

As for plaintiff's contentiorthat Ms. Donovan knew thataintiff was having difficulties

with her coworkers, there is revidence that Ms. @hovan had any sense whatsoever that

difficulties included conduct that might be caesed national origin discrimination. M

origir

any

S.

Donovan testified that Sherri Smith shared vwher that there was “tension” at times in the

Communications Department but she could recall any specific details about who was

involved or what had occurredshe further clarified that therteion described by Sherri Sm

was not necessarily tension between plaintiffl aer coworkers, but tfzer “general” tensio

h

—

=)

amongst all the operators in light of the smallkvspace and the stressful environment in which

17




the operators work. No reasonable jury cawddclude from this tésnony that Ms. Donova

had notice that plaintiff had ogplained about national origaiscrimination in the workplace.

In the end, the edence viewed in the light most favotalio plaintiff reflects that Sherr
Smith was the only persamith knowledge of plaintiff's proteed activity and thatto the extent
Sherri Smith was consulted in the terminaticetidion, she actually opposed that decis

Accordingly, no reasonable jugpuld conclude tht defendants’ decision terminate plaintiff's

employment was in any way motivated by plaintiff's protectet/ide. Summary judgment i

favor of defendants, thers appropriate on plaiiff’'s retaliation claim. Jones v. UPS, Inc502

=)

on.

-

F.3d 1176, 1195 (10tRir. 2007) (affirming grahof summary judgment on retaliation claim

where plaintiff failed to prodte evidence that UPS knew he wagaging in protected activity,

Kendrick v. Penske Transp. Servs.,.I220 F.3d 1220, 1235 (I0tCir. 2000) (affirming

dismissal of retaliation claim on summary judgrhwhere plaintiff presented no evidence

that

decisionmaker knew of plaintiff's protecteattivity at time discharge decision was made);

Sanchez v. Denver Public Schodlé4 F.3d 527, 534 Qth Cir. 1998) (samé).

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED BY THE COURT THAT defendants’ motion fg

summary judgment (doc. 43) is granted.

IT1SSO ORDERED.

=

¢ Because the court concludes that pléfintias not established the requisite causal

connection, it declines to address defendants’ remaining arguroenterning plaintiff's
retaliation claim.
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Dated this 18 day of July, 2012, at Kansas City, Kansas.

s/ John W. Lungstrum
bhn W. Lungstrum
Unhited States District Judge
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